

3  
4 **SENATE BILL No. 99**

5  
6 By Committee on Judiciary

7  
8 1-23  
9

10 AN ACT concerning crimes, criminal procedure and punishment; relat-  
11 ing to the offender registration act; amending K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-  
12 4902, 22-4904, 22-4905, 22-4906, 22-4907, 22-4908 and 22-4909 and  
13 repealing the existing sections.  
14

15 *Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Kansas:*

16 Section 1. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4902 is hereby amended to read as  
17 follows: 22-4902. As used in this act, unless the context otherwise  
18 requires:

19 (a) "Offender" means: (1) A sex offender as defined in subsection (b);  
20 (2) a violent offender as defined in subsection (d);  
21 (3) *a sexually violent predator as defined in subsection (f)*;  
22 (4) any person who, on and after the effective date of this act, is  
23 convicted of any of the following crimes when the victim is less than 18  
24 years of age:

25 (A) Kidnapping as defined in K.S.A. 21-3420 and amendments  
26 thereto, except by a parent;

27 (B) aggravated kidnapping as defined in K.S.A. 21-3421 and amend-  
28 ments thereto; or

29 (C) criminal restraint as defined in K.S.A. 21-3424 and amendments  
30 thereto, except by a parent;

31 ~~(4)~~ (5) any person convicted of any of the following criminal sexual  
32 conduct if one of the parties involved is less than 18 years of age:

33 (A) Adultery as defined by K.S.A. 21-3507, and amendments thereto;

34 (B) criminal sodomy as defined by subsection (a)(1) of K.S.A. 21-  
35 3505, and amendments thereto;

36 (C) promoting prostitution as defined by K.S.A. 21-3513, and amend-  
37 ments thereto;

38 (D) patronizing a prostitute as defined by K.S.A. 21-3515, and  
39 amendments thereto;

40 (E) lewd and lascivious behavior as defined by K.S.A. 21-3508, and  
41 amendment thereto; or

42 (F) unlawful sexual relations as defined by K.S.A. 21-3520, and  
43 amendments thereto;

1 ~~(5) any conviction for~~ (6) *any person who is a resident of this state*  
2 *who has been required to register under any federal, military or other*  
3 *state's law;*

4 (7) *any person who has been convicted of an offense in effect at any*  
5 *time prior to the effective date of this act, that is comparable to any crime*  
6 *defined in subsection ~~(3) or (4)~~ (4) or (5), or any federal, military or other*  
7 *state conviction for an offense that under the laws of this state would be*  
8 *an offense defined in subsection ~~(3) or (4)~~ (4) or (5); or*

9 ~~(6)~~ (8) *any person who has been convicted of an attempt, conspiracy*  
10 *or criminal solicitation, as defined in K.S.A. 21-3301, 21-3302 or 21-3303*  
11 *and amendments thereto, of an offense defined in subsection ~~(3) or (4)~~*  
12 *(4) or (5).*

13 Convictions which result from or are connected with the same act, or  
14 result from crimes committed at the same time, shall be counted for the  
15 purpose of this section as one conviction. Any conviction set aside pur-  
16 suant to law is not a conviction for purposes of this section. A conviction  
17 from another state shall constitute a conviction for purposes of this  
18 section.

19 (b) "Sex offender" includes any person who, after the effective date  
20 of this act, is convicted of any sexually violent crime set forth in subsection  
21 (c).

22 (c) "Sexually violent crime" means:

23 (1) Rape as defined in K.S.A. 21-3502 and amendments thereto;

24 (2) indecent liberties with a child as defined in K.S.A. 21-3503 and  
25 amendments thereto;

26 (3) aggravated indecent liberties with a child as defined in K.S.A. 21-  
27 3504 and amendments thereto;

28 (4) criminal sodomy as defined in subsection (a)(2) and (a)(3) of  
29 K.S.A. 21-3505 and amendments thereto;

30 (5) aggravated criminal sodomy as defined in K.S.A. 21-3506 and  
31 amendments thereto;

32 (6) indecent solicitation of a child as defined by K.S.A. 21-3510 and  
33 amendments thereto;

34 (7) aggravated indecent solicitation of a child as defined by K.S.A.  
35 21-3511 and amendments thereto;

36 (8) sexual exploitation of a child as defined by K.S.A. 21-3516 and  
37 amendments thereto;

38 (9) sexual battery as defined by K.S.A. 21-3517 and amendments  
39 thereto;

40 (10) aggravated sexual battery as defined by K.S.A. 21-3518 and  
41 amendments thereto;

42 (11) aggravated incest as defined by K.S.A. 21-3603 and amendments  
43 thereto; or

1 (12) any conviction for a *an* offense in effect at any time prior to the  
2 effective date of this act, that is comparable to a sexually violent crime as  
3 defined in subparagraphs (1) through (11), or any federal, *military* or  
4 other state conviction for a ~~felony~~ *an* offense that under the laws of this  
5 state would be a sexually violent crime as defined in this section;

6 (13) an attempt, conspiracy or criminal solicitation, as defined in  
7 K.S.A. 21-3301, 21-3302 or 21-3303 and amendments thereto, of a sex-  
8 ually violent crime, as defined in this section; or

9 (14) any act which at the time of sentencing for the offense has been  
10 determined beyond a reasonable doubt to have been sexually motivated.  
11 As used in this subparagraph, “sexually motivated” means that one of the  
12 purposes for which the defendant committed the crime was for the pur-  
13 pose of the defendant’s sexual gratification.

14 (d) “Violent offender” includes any person who, after the effective  
15 date of this act, is convicted of any of the following crimes:

16 (1) Capital murder as defined by K.S.A. 21-3439 and amendments  
17 thereto;

18 (2) murder in the first degree as defined by K.S.A. 21-3401 and  
19 amendments thereto;

20 (3) murder in the second degree as defined by K.S.A. 21-3402 and  
21 amendments thereto;

22 (4) voluntary manslaughter as defined by K.S.A. 21-3403 and amend-  
23 ments thereto;

24 (5) involuntary manslaughter as defined by K.S.A. 21-3404 and  
25 amendments thereto; or

26 (6) any conviction for an offense in effect at any time prior to the  
27 effective date of this act, that is comparable to any crime defined in this  
28 subsection, or any federal, *military* or other state conviction for an offense  
29 that under the laws of this state would be an offense defined in this  
30 subsection; or

31 (7) an attempt, conspiracy or criminal solicitation, as defined in  
32 K.S.A. 21-3301, 21-3302 or 21-3303 and amendments thereto, of an of-  
33 fense defined in this subsection.

34 (e) “Law enforcement agency having jurisdiction” means the sheriff  
35 of the county in which the offender expects to reside upon the offender’s  
36 discharge, parole or release.

37 (f) “*Sexually violent predator*” means any person who, on or after  
38 July 1, 2001, is found to be a sexually violent predator pursuant to K.S.A.  
39 59-29a01 et seq. and amendments thereto.

40 (g) “*Nonresident student or worker*” includes any offender who  
41 crosses into the state or county for more than 14 days, or for an aggregate  
42 period exceeding 30 days in a calender year, for the purposes of employ-  
43 ment, with or without compensation, or to attend school as a student.

1 (h) “Aggravated offenses” means engaging in sexual acts involving  
2 penetration with victims of any age through the use of force or the threat  
3 of serious violence, or engaging in sexual acts involving penetration with  
4 victims less than 14 years of age, and includes the following offenses:

5 (1) Rape as defined in subsection (a)(1)(A) and subsection (a)(2) of  
6 K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 21-3502, and amendments thereto;

7 (2) aggravated criminal sodomy as defined in subsection (a)(1) and  
8 subsection (a)(3)(A) of K.S.A. 21-3506, and amendments thereto; and

9 (3) any attempt, conspiracy or criminal solicitation, as defined in  
10 K.S.A. 21-3301, 21-3302 or 21-3303 and amendments thereto, of an of-  
11 fense defined in subsection (f).

12 Sec. 2. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4904 is hereby amended to read as  
13 follows: 22-4904. (a) (1) Except as provided in subsection (a)(2), within  
14 10 days of the offender coming into any county in which the offender  
15 resides or is temporarily domiciled for more than 10 days, the offender  
16 shall register with the sheriff of the county.

17 (2) Within 10 days of the offender coming into any county in which  
18 the offender resides or temporarily resides for more than 10 days, any  
19 offender who has provided the information and completed and signed  
20 the registration form as required in K.S.A. 22-4905 and amendments  
21 thereto, shall verify with the sheriff of the county that the sheriff has  
22 received such offender’s information and registration form.

23 (3) *Upon registration with ~~an academie~~ a **school or educational***  
24 *institution, a nonresident student attending such **school or** educational*  
25 *institution shall register with the sheriff within 10 days of the commence-*  
26 *ment of the school term.*

27 (4) *Upon commencement of employment, a nonresident worker shall*  
28 *register with the sheriff within 10 days of the commencement date of*  
29 *employment.*

30 ~~(3)~~ (5) For persons required to register as provided in ~~subsection~~  
31 ~~subsections~~ (a)(1), (a)(3) and (a)(4), the sheriff shall: (A) Explain the duty  
32 to register and the procedure for registration;

33 (B) obtain the information required for registration as provided in  
34 K.S.A. 22-4907 and amendments thereto;

35 (C) inform the offender that the offender must give written notice of  
36 any change of address within 10 days of a change in residence to the law  
37 enforcement agency where last registered and the Kansas bureau of  
38 investigation;

39 (D) *inform the nonresident student offender that the offender must*  
40 *give written notice to the sheriff and the Kansas bureau of investigation*  
41 *of any change or termination of attendance at the **school or** educational*  
42 *institution the offender is attending, within 10 days of such change or*  
43 *termination;*

1 (E) inform the nonresident worker offender that the offender must  
2 give written notice to the sheriff and the Kansas bureau of investigation  
3 of any termination of employment at the offender's place of employment,  
4 within 10 days of such termination;

5 (F) inform the offender that if the offender changes residence to  
6 another state, the offender must inform the law enforcement agency  
7 where last registered and the Kansas bureau of investigation of such  
8 change in residence and must register in the new state within 10 days of  
9 such change in residence; ~~and~~

10 (G) inform the offender that the offender must also register in any  
11 state or county where the offender is employed, carries on a ~~vacation~~  
12 **vocation** or is a student; and

13 ~~(E)~~ (H) require the offender to read and sign the registration form  
14 which shall include a statement that the requirements provided in this  
15 subsection have been explained to the offender.

16 (4) Such sheriff, within three days of receipt of the initial registration  
17 shall forward this information to the Kansas bureau of investigation.

18 (5) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a diversionary  
19 agreement or probation order, either adult or juvenile, or a juvenile of-  
20 fender sentencing order, requires registration under the Kansas offender  
21 registration act then all provisions of that act shall apply, except that the  
22 term of registration shall be controlled by such diversionary agreement,  
23 probation order or juvenile offender sentencing order.

24 (b) (1) If any person required to register as provided in this act  
25 changes the address of the person's residence, the offender, within 10  
26 days, shall inform in writing the Kansas bureau of investigation of the new  
27 address.

28 (2) After receipt of the change of address, the Kansas bureau of in-  
29 vestigation shall forward this information to the law enforcement agency  
30 having jurisdiction of the new place of residence within 10 days of such  
31 receipt of the change of address.

32 (c) For any person required to register as provided in this act, every  
33 90 days after the person's initial registration date during the period the  
34 person is required to register, the following applies:

35 (1) The Kansas bureau of investigation shall mail a nonforwardable  
36 verification form to the last reported address of the person.

37 (2) The person shall mail the verification form to the Kansas bureau  
38 of investigation within 10 days after receipt of the form.

39 (3) The verification form shall be signed by the person, and shall ~~state~~  
40 **provide** that the person still resides at the address last reported to the  
41 Kansas bureau of investigation the following information, as applicable,  
42 to the Kansas bureau of investigation: (A) ~~The~~ **Whether the** person still  
43 resides at the address last reported; (B) **whether** the person still attends

1 *the school or educational institution last reported; (C) whether the*  
2 *person is still employed at the place of employment last reported; and (D)*  
3 *whether the person's vehicle registration information is the same as last*  
4 *reported.*

5 (4) If the person fails to mail the verification form to the Kansas  
6 bureau of investigation within 10 days after receipt of the form, the person  
7 shall be in violation of the Kansas offender registration act.

8 (5) Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to alleviate  
9 any person required to register as provided in this act from meeting the  
10 requirements prescribed in ~~subsection~~ subsections (a)(1), (a)(2) and  
11 (b)(1).

12 Sec. 3. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4905 is hereby amended to read as  
13 follows: 22-4905. (a) (1) Any offender, who is discharged or paroled from  
14 a prison, hospital or other institution or facility involving a violation of any  
15 crime *or confinement* as provided in subsection (a), (b) ~~or~~, (d) *or (f)* of  
16 K.S.A. 22-4902 and amendments thereto, prior to discharge, parole or  
17 release, shall be informed by the staff of the facility in which the offender  
18 was confined of the duty to register as provided in this act.

19 (2) (A) The staff of the facility shall: (i) Explain the duty to register  
20 and the procedure for registration;

21 (ii) obtain the information required for registration as provided in  
22 K.S.A. 22-4907 and amendments thereto;

23 (iii) inform the offender that the offender must give written notice  
24 of any change of address within 10 days of a change in residence to the  
25 law enforcement agency where last registered and the Kansas bureau of  
26 investigation;

27 (iv) inform the offender that if the offender changes residence to  
28 another state, the offender must inform the law enforcement agency  
29 where last registered and the Kansas bureau of investigation of such  
30 change in residence and must register in the new state within 10 days of  
31 such change in residence; ~~and~~

32 (v) *inform the offender that the offender must also register in any*  
33 *state or county where the offender is employed, carries on a ~~vacation~~*  
34 *vocation or is a student; and*

35 (vi) require the offender to read and sign the registration form which  
36 shall include a statement that the requirements provided in this subsec-  
37 tion have been explained to the offender.

38 (B) The staff of the facility shall give one copy of the form to the  
39 person, within three days, and shall send two copies of the form provided  
40 by subsection (2)(A)(v) to the Kansas bureau of investigation, which shall  
41 then forward one copy to the law enforcement agency having jurisdiction  
42 where the person expects to reside upon discharge, parole or release. The  
43 Kansas bureau of investigation must immediately ensure that such infor-

1 mation is entered in the state law enforcement record system. The Kansas  
2 bureau of investigation shall transmit such conviction data and finger-  
3 prints to the federal bureau of investigation.

4 (b) (1) Any offender who is released on probation, receives a sus-  
5 pended sentence, sentenced to community corrections or released on  
6 postrelease supervision because of the commission of any crime as pro-  
7 vided in subsection (a), (b) or (d) of K.S.A. 22-4902 and amendments  
8 thereto, prior to release, shall be informed of the offenders duty to reg-  
9 ister as provided in this act by the court in which the offender is convicted.

10 (2) (A) The court shall: (i) Explain the duty to register and the pro-  
11 cedure for registration;

12 (ii) obtain the information required for registration as provided in  
13 K.S.A. 22-4907 and amendments thereto;

14 (iii) inform the offender that the offender must give written notice  
15 of any change of address within 10 days of a change in residence to the  
16 law enforcement agency where last registered and the Kansas bureau of  
17 investigation;

18 (iv) inform the offender that if the offender changes residence to  
19 another state, the offender must inform the law enforcement agency  
20 where last registered and the Kansas bureau of investigation of such  
21 change in residence and must register in the new state within 10 days of  
22 such change in residence; ~~and~~

23 (v) *inform the offender that the offender must also register in any*  
24 *state or county where the offender is employed, carries on a ~~vacation~~*  
25 ***vocation** or is a student; and*

26 (vi) require the offender to read and sign the registration form which  
27 shall include a statement that the requirements provided in this subsec-  
28 tion have been explained to the offender.

29 (B) The court shall give one copy of the form to the person and,  
30 within three days, shall send two copies of the form provided by subsec-  
31 tion (2)(A)(v) to the Kansas bureau of investigation which shall then for-  
32 ward one copy to the law enforcement agency having jurisdiction where  
33 the person expects to reside upon release. The Kansas bureau of inves-  
34 tigation must immediately ensure that such information is entered in the  
35 state law enforcement record system. The Kansas bureau of investigation  
36 shall transmit such conviction data and fingerprints to the federal bureau  
37 of investigation.

38 Sec. 4. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4906 is hereby amended to read as  
39 follows: 22-4906. (a) Any person required to register as provided in this  
40 act shall be required to register: (1) Upon the first conviction of a sexually  
41 violent crime as defined in subsection (c) of K.S.A. 22-4902 and amend-  
42 ments thereto, any offense as defined in subsection (a) of K.S.A. 22-4902  
43 and amendments thereto or any offense as defined in subsection (d) of

1 K.S.A. 22-4902 and amendments thereto, if not confined, for a period of  
2 10 years after conviction, or, if confined, for a period of 10 years after  
3 paroled, discharged or released; or (2) upon a second or subsequent con-  
4 viction for such person's lifetime.

5 (b) Upon the first conviction, liability for registration terminates, if  
6 not confined, at the expiration of 10 years from the date of conviction,  
7 or, if confined, at the expiration of 10 years from the date of parole,  
8 discharge or release, if the convicted offender does not again become  
9 liable to register as provided by this act during that period.

10 (c) ~~On and after July 1, 1999,~~ Any person who has been convicted of  
11 an aggravated offense shall be required to register for such person's life-  
12 time. The provisions of this subsection shall expire on June 30, 2009.

13 (d) *Any person who has been declared a sexually violent predator*  
14 *pursuant to K.S.A. 59-29a01 et seq., and amendments thereto, shall reg-*  
15 *ister for such person's lifetime.*

16 (e) *Any nonresident worker shall register for the duration of such*  
17 *person's employment. The provisions of this subsection are in addition to*  
18 *subsections (a) and (b).*

19 (f) *Any nonresident student shall register for the duration of such*  
20 *person's school attendance **at a school or educational institution as***  
21 ***provided in this act.** The provisions of this subsection are in addition to*  
22 *subsections (a) and (b).*

23 Sec. 5. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4907 is hereby amended to read as  
24 follows: 22-4907. (a) Registration as required by this act shall consist of a  
25 form prepared by the Kansas bureau of investigation, which shall include  
26 a statement that the requirements provided in this section have been  
27 explained to the person, and shall be signed by the person. Such regis-  
28 tration form shall include the following:

- 29 (1) Name;
- 30 (2) date and place of birth;
- 31 (3) offense or offenses committed, date of conviction or convictions  
32 obtained;
- 33 (4) city or county of conviction or convictions obtained;
- 34 (5) sex and age of victim;
- 35 (6) current address;
- 36 (7) social security number;
- 37 (8) identifying characteristics such as race, *skin tone*, sex, age, hair  
38 and eye color, scars, *tattoos* and blood type;
- 39 (9) occupation ~~and~~, name of employer *and place of employment*;
- 40 (10) drivers license and vehicle information;
- 41 (11) documentation of any treatment received for a mental abnor-  
42 mality or personality disorder of the offender; for purposes of docu-  
43 menting the treatment received, sheriffs, prison officials and courts may



1 rely on information that is readily available to them from existing records  
2 and the offender.

3 (12) anticipated future residence;

4 (13) a photograph; ~~and~~

5 (14) fingerprints; *and*

6 (15) *school*.

7 (b) (1) The offender shall also provide to the registering law enforce-  
8 ment agency DNA exemplars, unless already on file.

9 (2) If the exemplars to be taken require the withdrawal of blood, such  
10 withdrawal may be performed only by: (A) A person licensed to practice  
11 medicine and surgery or a person acting under the supervision of any  
12 such licensed person;

13 (B) a registered nurse or a licensed practical nurse;

14 (C) any qualified medical technician; or

15 (D) a licensed phlebotomist.

16 (c) Unless the person has provided the information and completed  
17 and signed the registration form as provided in K.S.A. 22-4905 and  
18 amendments thereto within three days, the registering law enforcement  
19 agency shall forward the registration form to the Kansas bureau of  
20 investigation.

21 (d) *The Kansas bureau of investigation may participate in the federal*  
22 *bureau of investigation's NCIC 2000.*

23 Sec. 6. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4908 is hereby amended to read as  
24 follows: 22-4908. ~~(a) Any offender registered as provided in this act may~~  
25 ~~apply to the sentencing court for an order relieving the offender of the~~  
26 ~~duty of registration, except that no offender may apply as provided in this~~  
27 ~~section for an order relieving the offender of the duty of registration until~~  
28 ~~such offender has registered for a period of at least 10 years for each~~  
29 ~~conviction for which an offender must register as provided by this act.~~  
30 ~~The court shall hold a hearing on the application at which the applicant~~  
31 ~~and any interested persons may present witnesses and other evidence.~~

32 ~~—(b) At such hearing, if the person is a person who is required to~~  
33 ~~register due to a conviction of a sexually violent crime as defined in K.S.A.~~  
34 ~~22-4902 and amendments thereto, the court shall receive and consider a~~  
35 ~~report by a board composed of experts in the field of the behavior and~~  
36 ~~treatment of sexual offenders. Such board shall be appointed as provided~~  
37 ~~by rules and regulations promulgated by the attorney general. If, after~~  
38 ~~the hearing involving such person, the court finds by a preponderance of~~  
39 ~~the evidence that the sex offender is rehabilitated and that the sex of-~~  
40 ~~fender, does not suffer from a mental abnormality or personality disorder~~  
41 ~~that would make the person likely to engage in a predatory sexually violent~~  
42 ~~crime, the court shall grant an order relieving the offender of the duty of~~  
43 ~~further registration under this act. For purposes of this act, "mental ab-~~

1 normality” means a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emo-  
2 tional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to commit a  
3 sexually violent crime in a degree constituting such person a menace to  
4 the health and safety of others.

5 —(c) If, after the hearing involving a person who is an offender who  
6 was not required to register due to a conviction of a sexually violent crime  
7 as defined in K.S.A. 22-4902 and amendments thereto, the court finds by  
8 a preponderance of the evidence that the offender is rehabilitated, the  
9 court shall grant an order relieving the offender of the duty of further  
10 registration under this act.

11 —(d) Any person registered as provided in this act may apply to the  
12 sentencing court for an order relieving such person of the duty of regis-  
13 tration for any conviction which has been set aside. The court shall hold  
14 a hearing on the application at which the applicant shall present evidence  
15 verifying that such applicant’s conviction was set aside. If the court finds  
16 that the person’s conviction was set aside, the court shall grant an order  
17 relieving the person of the duty of further registration under this act for  
18 any conviction which has been set aside. Such court granting such an  
19 order shall forward a copy of such order to the sheriff of the county in  
20 which such person has registered and to the Kansas bureau of investi-  
21 gation. Upon receipt of such copy of the order, such sheriff and the Kan-  
22 sas bureau of investigation shall remove such person’s name from the  
23 registry for any conviction which has been set aside. Nothing contained  
24 in this subsection shall relieve any person of the duty to register or any  
25 other duty prescribed under this act for any conviction which has not  
26 been set aside.

27 —(e) Any ~~No~~ person required to register as an offender pursuant to the  
28 Kansas offender registration act, K.S.A. 22-4901 *et seq.*, and amendments  
29 thereto, who has a second or subsequent conviction for an offense which  
30 requires registration pursuant to such act, and any person who has been  
31 convicted of an aggravated offense, shall not **shall** be granted an order  
32 relieving the offender of further registration under this act. The provisions  
33 of this subsection shall expire on June 30, 2009.

34 Sec. 7. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4909 is hereby amended to read as  
35 follows: 22-4909. The statements or any other information required by  
36 this act shall be open to inspection in the sheriff’s office by the public at  
37 *the sheriff’s office, at the **headquarters of the** Kansas bureau of inves-*  
38 *tigation and on the world-wide web **any internet website sponsored or***  
39 ***created by a sheriff’s department or the Kansas bureau of investi-***  
40 ***gation that contains such statements or information,*** and specifically  
41 are subject to the provisions of the Kansas open records act, K.S.A. 45-  
42 215 *et seq.*, and amendments thereto, except that the name, address,  
43 telephone number, or any other information which specifically and in-

1 individually identifies the victim of any offender required to register as  
2 provided in this act shall not be disclosed other than to law enforcement  
3 agencies.

4 Sec. 8. K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 22-4902, 22-4904, 22-4905, 22-4906, 22-  
5 4907, 22-4908 and 22-4909 are hereby repealed.

6 Sec. 9. This act shall take effect and be in force from and after its  
7 publication in the statute book.

8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43